

Hatch Act Restrictions on Federal Employees' Political Activities in the Digital Age

Cynthia Brown Legislative Attorney

Jack Maskell Legislative Attorney

April 13, 2016

Congressional Research Service 7-5700 www.crs.gov R44469

Summary

Federal officers and employees historically have been subject to certain limitations when engaging in partisan political activities. Although they have always retained their right to vote and privately express political opinions, for most of the last century, they were prohibited from being actively involved in political management or political campaigns. At the beginning of the 20th century, civil service rules imposed a general ban on voluntary, off-duty participation in partisan politics by merit system employees. The ban prohibited employees from using their "official authority or influence for the purpose of interfering with an election or affecting the result thereof." These rules were eventually codified in 1939 and are commonly known as the Hatch Act.

By the late 20th century, such broad restrictions were seen as unnecessary due to other changes in the nature of the federal workforce, including the advent of a more independent and merit-based civil service and adoption of increased protections for employees against coercion and retaliation. Accordingly, the Hatch Act was significantly amended in 1993 to relax the broad ban on political activities, and now allows most employees to engage in a wide range of voluntary, partisan political activities in their free time, while away from the federal workplace. Some employees may be subject to additional restrictions depending on the employing agency or an employee's specific position.

The nature of the federal workforce and work environment has continued to evolve since these amendments, and new issues have arisen for congressional consideration in recent years. In particular, the increased use of technology has raised questions about how email and mobile communications may be regulated under the Hatch Act. The increased availability and use of smartphones may be seen has blurring an employee's time, either by using a personal device while working or using a government device while off-duty. Additionally, alternative work arrangements, for example, telework, have presented similar dilemmas in understanding how Hatch Act restrictions might be applied in the modern workplace.

This report examines the history of regulation of federal employees' partisan political activity under the Hatch Act and related federal regulations. It discusses the scope of the application of these restrictions to different categories of employees and provides a background analysis of the general restrictions currently in place. Finally, it analyzes potential issues that have arisen and interpretations that have been offered related to the application of these restrictions to new platforms of activity, for example, email, social media, and telework.

Contents

The Hatch Act Generally	1
Historical Regulation of Government Employees' Political Activities	1
Scope of Current Regulation on Government Employees' Political Activities	2
Enforcement of Hatch Act Restrictions	3
Government Employees Subject to the Hatch Act	4
Less Restricted Employees	4
Further Restricted Employees	
Limited Exceptions	
Certain Executive Officials and Appointees	6
Employees in Certain Municipalities	6
Restrictions on Digital Political Activities	7
Applicability of Prohibition on Political Activities on Duty	7
Regulating New Platforms of Political Activity in Modern Work Environments	8
Email and Mobile Communications	8
Social Media	9
Telework 1	0

Appendixes

Appendix. Office of Speci	al Counsel Guidance for Fe	ederal Employees	11
---------------------------	----------------------------	------------------	----

Contacts

Author Contact Information

The Hatch Act Generally

Federal law, commonly known as the Hatch Act, regulates certain government employees' participation in partisan political activities.¹ When enacting the current provisions regulating employees' political participation, Congress expressly stated that the policy underlying the statute recognized employees' right to engage freely "in the political processes of the Nation."²

Historical Regulation of Government Employees' Political Activities

Employees in the executive branch of the federal government have been subject to certain limitations and restrictions on their partisan political activities for over a century.³ A general ban on voluntary, off-duty participation in partisan politics by merit system employees was instituted by executive order in 1907.⁴ Specifically, the executive order prohibited employees from using "official authority or influence for the purpose of interfering with an election or affecting the result thereof."⁵ Employees retained their right to vote and privately express political opinions, but were prohibited from taking "active part in political management or in political campaigns."⁶

Known as Civil Service Rule 1, this restriction and all of the administrative interpretations under it were eventually codified in 1939 and made applicable to most federal executive branch employees under a law commonly known as the Hatch Act.⁷ Since 1940, state and local government employees whose official jobs are connected with activities that receive federal funding have come within the purview of a part of the federal Hatch Act regarding partisan political activities.⁸

The Hatch Act and civil service restrictions were seen in some respects as protections of federal employees from coercion by higher level, politically appointed supervisors to engage in political activities against their will,⁹ as well as an effort by Congress and the Executive to assure a nonpartisan and evenhanded administration of federal laws and programs.¹⁰ With the advent of the modern, more independent and merit-based civil service,¹¹ and the adoption of increased

⁶ Id.

⁷ "An Act to Prevent Pernicious Political Activities," P.L. 76-252, 53 Stat. 1147 (1939).

⁸ P.L. 76-753, 54 Stat. 767 (1940). See also 5 U.S.C. §§1501 et seq.

⁹ Senate Report No. 1, 76th Cong., 1st Sess. (1939). *See also* H.R. Rpt. 103-16, 103rd Cong. 1st Sess. 7-13 (1993).

¹⁰ United Public Workers, C.I.O. v. Mitchell, 330 U.S. 75, 94-103 (1947); U.S. Civil Service Commission v. National Association of Letter Carriers, AFL-CIO, 413 U.S. 548, 564-67 (1973).

¹ 5 U.S.C. §7321 et seq.

² 5 U.S.C. §7321.

³ See Act of August 15, 1876, ch. 287, §6, 19 Stat. 169; "Pendleton Civil Service Act," Act of January 16, 1883, ch. 27, §2, 22 Stat. 403, 404 (stating that "no person in the public service is for that reason under any obligations to contribute to any political fund, or to render any political service, and that he will not be removed or otherwise prejudiced for refusing to do so" and that "no person in said service has any right to use his official authority or influence to coerce the political action of any person or body").

⁴ Exec. Order No. 642 (June 3, 1907), superseded by Exec. Order 655 (June 15, 1907) (making technical changes only). E.O. 642 amended what was known as Civil Service Rule 1, which had been adopted in 1883 after passage of the Pendleton Act. *Id.*

⁵ Id.

¹¹ The percentage of merit system civil service employees grew from 10% of the federal workforce at the time of the passage of the Pendleton Civil Service Act in 1883, to 32% of the federal workforce at the time of the passage of the (continued...)

statutory and regulatory protections of federal employees against improper coercion and retaliation,¹² the need for a broad ban on all voluntary, outside activities in politics as a means to protect employees was seen as less necessary and more restrictive of the rights of private expression of millions of citizens than was needed to accomplish the goals of the Hatch Act.¹³

Accordingly, Congress made significant changes to the law in the Hatch Act Reform Amendments of 1993.¹⁴ The 1993 amendments allow most federal employees to engage in a wide range of voluntary, partisan political activities in their time off-duty, away from their federal jobs, and off of any federal premises.¹⁵ While many limitations on employee's political activity were removed, the amendments retained strict restrictions for some employees of designated agencies and provided more express statutory prohibitions on workplace politicking.¹⁶

Most recently, Congress made changes to the Hatch Act in the Hatch Act Modernization Act of 2012.¹⁷ These amendments did not include significant changes to the substantive prohibitions on federal employees' political activity.¹⁸ However, these amendments did change the status of employees of the District of Columbia, who previously were subject to Hatch Act restrictions but now are expressly excluded from coverage, and made changes to the mechanisms for enforcement of Hatch Act violations.¹⁹

Scope of Current Regulation on Government Employees' Political Activities

In its current form, the Hatch Act generally prohibits some categories of political activities for all covered employees. These restrictions generally prohibit such employees from the following:

- using their "official authority or influence for the purpose of interfering with or affecting the result of an election";²⁰
- soliciting, accepting, or receiving political campaign contributions from any person;²¹

¹⁶ See 5 U.S.C. §§7323, 7324. As discussed later in this report, some employees remain subject to strict limitations, even in voluntary, off-duty political activities. *See* 5 U.S.C. §7323(b).

¹⁷ P.L. 112-230, 126 Stat. 1616.

¹⁸ These amendments generally focused on amending the scope of coverage for restrictions applying to state and local employees. *Id*. They also included amendments to the definition of municipalities and subdivisions that may be excepted from the Hatch Act. *See id* at \$

¹⁹ See id. at §3(e) (amending 5 U.S.C. §7322(1)) and §4 (amending the penalties applicable for violations).

²⁰ 5 U.S.C. §7323(a)(1).

²¹ 5 U.S.C. §7323(a)(2). Such contributions may be permitted if the contributor is a member of the same federal labor (continued...)

^{(...}continued)

Hatch Act in 1939, to the then-current figure of more than 80% of all federal workers being in the competitive civil service. *See* 1997 Federal Personnel Guide, Key Communications Group, at 11 (1997); Comm. Print 94-29, 94th Congress, 2nd Sess., "History of Civil Service Merit Systems of the United States and Selected Foreign Countries," at 8 (1976).

¹² See, e.g., 5 U.S.C. §2302, added by the Civil Service Reform Act of 1978, and 5 U.S.C. §§1201 *et seq.* and 1211 *et seq.*, creating the Merit Systems Protection Board and Office of Special Counsel. Note also the emergence of employee protections through recognized bargaining representatives and statutorily required grievance procedures. 5 U.S.C. §§7111 *et seq.* and 7121 *et seq.*

¹³ H.R. Rpt. 103-16, at 5-15 (1993).

¹⁴ P.L. 103-94, 107 Stat. 1001 (October 6, 1993), codified at 5 U.S.C. §§7321 et seq.

¹⁵ Id.

- running "for election to a partisan political office";²²
- soliciting or discouraging participation in political activity of any person who either has an application for a grant, contract, or other status pending before the employing agency or is the subject of an ongoing audit, investigation, or enforcement action by the employing agency;²³
- engaging in partisan political activity on official duty time; on federal property; while wearing a uniform or insignia identifying them as federal officials or employees; or while using a government vehicle.²⁴

Specific political activities that are permitted or prohibited for each category of federal employees covered by the Hatch Act are provided in the **Appendix** of this report. Notably, employees are not prohibited from all forms of political activity, and the Hatch Act expressly preserves an employee's "right to vote as he chooses and to express his opinion on political subjects and candidates."²⁵

Enforcement of Hatch Act Restrictions

The U.S. Office of Special Counsel (OSC), an independent executive agency, is responsible for administering the Hatch Act provisions, including investigating complaints and interpreting the parameters of permissible and prohibited political activities.²⁶ If OSC believes that disciplinary action is warranted, it provides a complaint and statement of facts to the employee and the Merit Systems Protection Board.²⁷ Employees, if a subject to such a complaint, are entitled to certain procedural rights, including representation and a hearing.²⁸

Penalties under the Hatch Act are generally in the nature of administrative, personnel actions.²⁹ Following criticism of the penalty structure as "overly-restrictive,"³⁰ current penalties include removal, reduction in grade, debarment from federal employment for up to five years, suspension, reprimand, or a civil fine.³¹

- ²⁵ 5 U.S.C. §7323(c).
- ²⁶ 5 U.S.C. §1216.

^{(...}continued)

organization or employee organization; is not a subordinate employee; and the solicitation is made for contributions to a multicandidate political committee of the shared organization. *Id*.

²² 5 U.S.C. §7323(a)(3).

²³ 5 U.S.C. §7323(a)(4).

²⁴ 5 U.S.C. §7324(a).

²⁷ 5 U.S.C. §1215(a)(1).

²⁸ 5 U.S.C. §1215(a)(2).

²⁹ Under the Hatch Act reforms adopted in 1993, the general penalty for violations required removal, with the only exception being if MSPB unanimously found that penalty unwarranted, in which case it could apply a minimum penalty of 30 days' suspension without pay. *See* P.L. 103-94, §2(a), 107 Stat. 1004 (adding 5 U.S.C. §7326).

³⁰ U.S. Congress, House Committee on Oversight and Government Reform, Subcommittee on Federal Workforce, U.S. Postal Service, and Labor Policy, *Hatch Act: Options for Reform*, committee print, prepared by U.S. Government Printing Office, 112th Cong., 2nd sess., May 16, 2012, 112-155 (Washington: GPO, 2012), pp. 12-13 (Testimony of Special Counsel Carolyn N. Lerner).

³¹ 5 U.S.C. §7326.

Government Employees Subject to the Hatch Act

The Hatch Act defines *employee* for purposes of the act as "any individual, other than the President and Vice President, employed or holding office in—(A) an Executive Agency other than the General Accounting Office [Government Accountability Office]; or (B) a position within the competitive service which is not in an Executive agency..."³²

The definition expressly excludes members of the uniformed services and individuals employed or holding office in the government of the District of Columbia.³³ Furthermore, by definition and design, the Hatch Act does not apply to employees in the legislative or judicial branches of the federal government.³⁴ Notably, although not all employees of the federal government are subject to the Hatch Act, some provisions of the federal criminal code relating to political corruption and campaign finance apply to all federal officers and employees in all three branches of government.³⁵

The broad definition means that the Hatch Act generally applies to all civilian officers and employees in the executive branch of the federal government. With the exception of the President and Vice President themselves, individuals who are subject to Hatch Act restrictions include rank-and-file employees in the executive branch; all officials of the executive agencies and departments, including agency and department heads appointed by the President with advice and consent of the Senate; and all officials, staff, and aides in the offices of the President and Vice President.³⁶ There are limited exceptions for applicability of the Hatch Act under certain circumstances, as discussed below.

Less Restricted Employees

Following the relaxation of limitations on participation in political activity, the majority of individuals identified as "employees" subject to the Hatch Act are considered "less restricted employees."³⁷ That is, these employees are subject to the standard rules provided by the Hatch Act, whether by statute or regulation, and generally are permitted to "take an active part in political management or in political campaigns," except for the general restrictions outlined above.³⁸

Further Restricted Employees

Some employees covered by the Hatch Act are subject to additional restrictions under current law, and may be referred to as "further restricted employees." These designations mean that such

³² 5 U.S.C. §7322(1). Under federal regulations, the definition also expressly includes officers and employees of the U.S. Postal Service or Postal Rate Commission. *See* 5 C.F.R. §734.101.

³³ *Id.* The permissible and prohibited political activities of military personnel are governed generally by rules set out in Department of Defense Directive 1344.10.

³⁴ Under the definition of employee, individuals holding positions not in an "executive agency" are not subject to the Hatch Act unless such positions are expressly included in the competitive service by statute. *See* 5 U.S.C. §7322(1).

³⁵ See CRS Report R44447, Campaign Contributions and the Ethics of Elected Officials: Regulation Under Federal Law, by Cynthia Brown, Jack Maskell, and L. Paige Whitaker.

³⁶ See 59 Fed. Reg. 48,769 (September 23, 1994).

³⁷ See Office of Special Counsel, Hatch Act: Federal Employees, *available at* https://osc.gov/pages/hatchact-affectsme.aspx.

³⁸ 5 U.S.C. §7323(a).

employees are subject not only to the standard rules noted above, but also to additional restrictions in the relevant statutory provisions and regulations. These employees are subject to more restrictive provisions similar to the former "no politics" rule of the original Hatch Act discussed earlier.

Further restricted employees are identified by the agencies for which they work or particular positions within the executive branch. The designated agencies³⁹ generally deal with law enforcement or national security matters and include the following:

- the Federal Election Commission;⁴⁰
- the Election Assistance Commission;
- the Federal Bureau of Investigation;
- the Secret Service;
- the Central Intelligence Agency;
- the National Security Council;
- the National Security Agency;
- the Defense Intelligence Agency;
- the Merit Systems Protection Board;
- the Office of Special Counsel;
- the Office of Criminal Investigation of the Internal Revenue Service;
- the Office of Investigative Programs of the United States Custom Service;
- the Office of Law Enforcement of the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms;
- the National Geospatial-Intelligence Agency;
- the Office of the Director of National Intelligence;
- the Criminal Division of the Department of Justice;⁴¹ and
- the National Security Division of the Department of Justice.⁴²

The heightened restrictions also apply to employees holding certain designated positions,⁴³ including the following:

- career appointees in an Senior Executive Service position;
- administrative law judges;
- contract appeals board members; and
- administrative appeals judges.

Employees in these agencies may not "take an active part in political management or political campaigns," unless the employee was appointed by the President with the advice and consent of the Senate.⁴⁴ The law specifies that this prohibition means that these employees are subject to the

³⁹ See 5 U.S.C. §7323(b)(2)(B)(i).

⁴⁰ FEC employees generally also are barred from soliciting, receiving, or giving political contributions to employees, Members of Congress, or officers of the uniformed service. 5 U.S.C. §7323(b)(1).

⁴¹ 5 U.S.C. §7323(b)(3).

⁴² Id.

⁴³ 5 U.S.C. §7323(b)(2)(B)(ii).

⁴⁴ 5 U.S.C. §7323(b)(2)(A).

rules in place under the original Hatch Act provisions (e.g., "no politics" even if off duty or away from their official jobs or workplace).⁴⁵ However, further restricted employees are not entirely excluded from political action under the Hatch Act. That is, they may engage in a number of political activities in their capacity as private citizens (i.e., while not on duty, in the federal workplace, or otherwise representing or appearing to represent the government) if the activity "is not performed in concert with a political party, partisan political group, or a candidate for partisan political office."

Limited Exceptions

The Hatch Act provides a few limited exceptions, including for employees in certain high-ranking positions and for employees seeking to engage in political activities in certain municipalities.

Certain Executive Officials and Appointees

The Hatch Act provides an exception to allow certain high-ranking officials to "engage in political activity otherwise prohibited ... if the costs associated with that political activity are not paid for by money derived from the Treasury of the United States."⁴⁷ The exception is available to employees who hold positions with responsibilities that "continue outside normal duty hours and while away from the normal duty post," such as presidential advisers or cabinet officers appointed by the President with the advice and consent of the Senate.⁴⁸ In other words, these officials may engage in political activities during what would be considered official working time, as long as federal funds are not used for such activities. Any such official must reimburse the U.S. Treasury for the federal resources used in campaign activities.

Employees in Certain Municipalities

Congress authorized regulations that would permit employees otherwise covered by the Hatch Act's restrictions "to take an active part in political management and political campaigns involving the municipality or other political subdivision in which they reside" in certain cases.⁴⁹ Generally, this exception may be applied only to municipalities and political subdivisions that have a majority of voters employed by the federal government and expressly includes the District of Columbia and those in Maryland or Virginia that are also "in the immediate vicinity of the District of Columbia."⁵⁰

⁴⁵ See 5 U.S.C. §7323(b)(4) (defining "active part in political management or in a political campaign" to mean "those acts of political management or political campaigning which were prohibited for employees of the competitive service before July 19, 1940, by determinations of the Civil Service Commission under the rules prescribed by the President.").

⁴⁶ See 5 C.F.R. §734.402 (recognizing further restricted employees' right to expression of political opinions; to display political messages; to sign political petitions; etc.).

⁴⁷ 5 U.S.C. §7324(b)(1).

⁴⁸ 5 U.S.C. §7324(b)(2).

⁴⁹ 5 U.S.C. §7325. *See generally* 5 C.F.R. part 733 "Political Activity—Federal Employees Residing in Designated Localities."

⁵⁰ *Id.* To prescribe such regulations, the Office of Personnel Management must "[determine] that because of special or unusual circumstances which exist in the municipality of political subdivision it is in the domestic interest of the employees and individuals to permit that political participation." *Id. See* 5 C.F.R. §733.107(c) (list of designated localities).

Restrictions on Digital Political Activities

While the Hatch Act includes several categories of restrictions, the restriction on political activities while on duty, in the federal workplace, or otherwise representing the government has been of particular interest in recent years, given various developments in the nature of federal employment. The changing nature of the workplace may raise questions regarding the balance between personal and professional activity, including various platforms of political activity such as email, mobile devices, social media, and telework.

Applicability of Prohibition on Political Activities on Duty

One of the categories of restrictions imposed by employees covered by the Hatch Act is commonly known as the prohibition on political activities on duty. That provision states the following:

[a]n employee may not engage in political activity—(1) while the employee is on duty; (2) in any room or building occupied in the discharge of official duties by an individual employed or holding office in the Government of the United States or any agency or instrumentality thereof; (3) while wearing a uniform or official insignia identifying the office or position of the employee; or (4) using an vehicle owned or leased by the Government of the United States or any agency or instrumentality thereof.⁵¹

The Hatch Act includes very few definitions of its terms, and the meaning of its provisions are detailed in federal regulations.⁵² The scope of the prohibition on political activities on duty, including such activities conducted in the federal workplace, depends largely on the general definitions of these terms.

- *Political activity* is defined as "activity directed toward the success or failure of a political party, candidate for partisan political office, or partisan political group."⁵³
- Employees are considered to be *on duty* during any "time period when an employee is: (1) [i]n a pay status other than paid leave, compensatory time off, credit hours, time off as an incentive award, or excused or authorized absence (including leave without pay); or (2) [r]epresenting any agency or instrumentality of the United States Government in an official capacity."⁵⁴
- The federal workplace, that is, "*a room or building occupied in the discharge of official duties by an individual employed or holding office in the Government of the United States or any agency thereof*," is defined to include federally owned or leased space in which employees regularly perform official duties and public areas of buildings controlled by the General Services Administration.⁵⁵

These terms are particularly relevant when applying the Hatch Act to new work scenarios. For example, a mobile device used by an employee during the workday may not be used for partisan

⁵¹ 5 U.S.C. §7324(a).

⁵² See 5 U.S.C. §7322; 5 C.F.R. §734.101.

⁵³ 5 C.F.R. §734.101.

⁵⁴ Id.

⁵⁵ *Id.* The definition expressly excludes rooms in the White House or residence of the Vice President that are not regularly used for official duties. *Id.*

political activity, even if the employee does so using a personal device during a break, if the employee remains in the workplace during that break because it would violate the second prong of the prohibition.

Regulating New Platforms of Political Activity in Modern Work Environments

The Hatch Act does not specify how it is to be applied to various types of communication and methods of engaging in political activity. In other words, the manner in which an employee participates in political activity appears to be irrelevant to whether the activity is permissible. Thus, whether an employee meets with a subordinate in person or calls the subordinate over the phone to solicit contributions for a particular political activity, the employee could be in violation of the Hatch Act.⁵⁶ Examples include the increased use of mobile devices (e.g., Blackberry, smartphones), incorporation of social media as a professional tool, and the growth of federal telework programs.

Email and Mobile Communications

Although email has been a common tool in federal offices for decades, the prevalence of smartphones, both for personal and professional use, over the last decade has highlighted new issues in regulation of political activity under the Hatch Act. For instance, to what extent may an employee use his or her official email account or a personal account on a work computer or smartphone to engage in political activity?

Accordingly, OSC has offered guidance on the use of email to engage in political activity. In an advisory opinion, the agency examined an email sent by a federal employee entitled "Who is Barack Obama?," which included a number of opinions about then-presidential candidate Obama that OSC found to be in violation of the Hatch Act.⁵⁷ OSC noted that the email included "very negative statements about Senator Barack Obama, specifically warn[ed] recipients to 'stay alert' about his candidacy, and stat[ed] that it has information recipients should consider in their 'choice."⁵⁸ The opinion appears to indicate that the source of the content is at least a consideration in the analysis, highlighting that the "e-mail was not created by a federal employee. Rather, a federal employee received it and then forwarded it to others without adding any content."⁵⁹ However, this notation has been considered irrelevant if the employee sends the email while on duty or in a federal workplace.⁶⁰

While employees are permitted to receive partisan political emails to any account as well as forward an email from a government account to their own personal account, certain email activities are barred under Hatch Act restrictions.⁶¹ These include sending or forwarding a

Congressional Research Service

⁵⁶ See 5 U.S.C. §7323(a).

⁵⁷ U.S. Office of Special Counsel, Advisory Opinion, Example of E-mail that Constitutes Prohibited Political Activity (March 18, 2008), *available at* https://osc.gov/Pages/Advisory-Opinions.aspx.

⁵⁸ Id.

⁵⁹ Id.

⁶⁰ Id.

⁶¹ U.S. Office of Special Counsel, The Hatch Act: Frequently Asked Questions on Federal Employees and the Use of Social Media and Email (December 18, 2015), *available at* https://osc.gov/Resources/ FAQ%20Hatch%20Act%20Employees%20and%20Social%20Media%20(revised%2012-18-2015).pdf.

partisan political email while on duty or in a federal workplace.⁶² The prohibition applies to any account, meaning that employees are not only barred from sending such emails from their government accounts, but also prohibited from using personal accounts while at work, even if using their personal phone or tablet.⁶³ Additionally, employees cannot send or forward such emails to subordinates, nor can they use email to send invitations to political fundraising events.⁶⁴

Social Media

The increased use of mobile communications has expanded the opportunity not only for employees to call or email while in a work environment, but also for use of other applications that may be used to engage in political activity, particularly various outlets of social media. In both their personal and professional capacities, the federal workforce also relies more heavily on the use of social media now than ever. Accordingly, application of the Hatch Act to these methods of communication has been of particular interest.

Under OSC guidance, employees may engage in political activity on social media, with some restrictions.⁶⁵ All employees are barred from doing so while on duty or in the federal workplace, from using their official titles, or recommending or soliciting campaign contributions.⁶⁶ Further restricted employees also must refrain from posting or linking to campaign or other partisan material, sharing Facebook pages of campaigns or other partisan groups, or retweeting posts from such entities' Twitter accounts.⁶⁷ Specific rules apply with regard to social media contacts between supervisors and subordinates, which permit statements directly generally from a supervisor's account, but prohibit statements directed at subordinates in particular.⁶⁸ Furthermore, OSC has identified some limitations on the biographical content of users' accounts, such as use of official title, photographs indicating political preferences, and profile information.⁶⁹

OSC has announced a number of disciplinary measures related to these new platforms of activity after investigations into some federal employees' activities revealed violations of applicable prohibitions on political activities. In one case, OSC "intended to pursue prosecution" of an employee who used Twitter to advocate for a candidate and to solicit contributions.⁷⁰ The employee had issued over 30 tweets but resigned before the prosecution moved forward. In another case, an employee had issued "dozens of partisan political tweets" and participated in an "internet broadcast via webcam from an FEC facility, criticizing the Republican Party and then-Presidential candidate Mitt Romney."⁷¹ OSC barred the employee from employment in the executive branch for two years in that case. In both of these examples, specific details of the settlements reached were not released. For instance, it is not clear whether the employees used a personal Twitter account or an official account to engage in the restricted activities.

- ⁶² Id.
- ⁶³ Id.
- ⁶⁴ Id.
- ⁶⁵ Id.
- ⁶⁶ Id.
- ⁶⁷ Id.
- ⁶⁸ Id.
- ⁶⁹ Id.

⁷⁰ See CRS Legal Sidebar WSLG949, Recent Hatch Act Sanctions Illustrate Law's Enforcement in Digital World, by Cynthia Brown.

⁷¹ Id.

Telework

Congress has enacted statutory requirements that direct federal agencies to adopt telework policies,⁷² and in the most recent report to Congress, the U.S. Office of Personnel Management (OPM) indicated that federal telework programs have expanded accordingly, both in eligibility and participation of employees.⁷³ Telework has raised several questions with regard to the applicability of the Hatch Act. In congressional testimony, OSC explained that a significant number of employees work from home while using government-issued equipment.⁷⁴ Thus, application of Hatch Act restrictions to teleworking employees could be analyzed under several possible frameworks: (1) determination of whether the employee is on duty; (2) clarification of whether the telework location is a federal workplace; and (3) potential expansion of the prohibition on the use of government vehicles to include other government equipment (e.g., laptops, smartphones).

Current law does not identify which of these frameworks may be most appropriate, but OSC guidance indicates that "[f]ederal employees are considered 'on duty' during telecommuting hours."⁷⁵ OSC has previously recommended that Congress consider clarifying these definitions as a matter of legislative authority rather than relying on the administrative regulations and interpretation. It suggested that "extending the definition of the federal workplace to an employee's home would be inappropriate," and noted the statute's silence with regard to government resources other than vehicles.⁷⁶ Accordingly, it suggested that "[a]gencies should be encouraged to develop clear computer-usage and government equipment policies" including the use of official email addresses.⁷⁷ However, the issue was not included in the most recent amendments to the Hatch Act.⁷⁸

⁷² See P.L. 111-292, 124 Stat. 3165 (December 9, 2010); see also CRS Report R41818, P.L. 111-292, the Telework Enhancement Act of 2010: Summary of Provisions and Possible Issues for Oversight, by Barbara L. Schwemle.

⁷³ U.S. Office of Personnel Management, 2014 Status of Telework in the Federal Government Report to Congress, Fiscal Year 2013 at 9 (November 2015), *available at* http://www.telework.gov/reports-studies/.

⁷⁴ U.S. Congress, House Committee on Oversight and Government Reform, Subcommittee on Federal Workforce, U.S. Postal Service, and Labor Policy, *Hatch Act: Options for Reform*, committee print, prepared by U.S. Government Printing Office, 112th Cong., 2nd sess., May 16, 2012, 112-155 (Washington: GPO, 2012), p. 13 (Testimony of Special Counsel Carolyn N. Lerner).

⁷⁵ U.S. Office of Special Counsel, The Hatch Act: Frequently Asked Questions on Federal Employees and the Use of Social Media and Email (December 18, 2015), *available at* https://osc.gov/Resources/

FAQ%20Hatch%20Act%20Employees%20and%20Social%20Media%20(revised%2012-18-2015).pdf.

⁷⁶ U.S. Congress, House Committee on Oversight and Government Reform, Subcommittee on Federal Workforce, U.S. Postal Service, and Labor Policy, *Hatch Act: Options for Reform*, committee print, prepared by U.S. Government Printing Office, 112th Cong., 2nd sess., May 16, 2012, 112-155 (Washington: GPO, 2012), p. 13 (Testimony of Special Counsel Carolyn N. Lerner).

⁷⁷ Id.

⁷⁸ See P.L. 112-230, 126 Stat. 1616.

Appendix. Office of Special Counsel Guidance for Federal Employees

The Office of Special Counsel has provided guidance, including examples, to illustrate what types of activities are permitted and prohibited for less restricted and further restricted employees.⁷⁹

Less Restricted Employees⁸⁰

Permissible Political Activities

- May be candidates for public office in nonpartisan elections.
- May register and vote as they choose.
- May assist in voter registration drives.
- May contribute money to political campaigns, political parties, or partisan political groups.
- May attend political fundraising functions.
- May attend and be active at political rallies and meetings.
- May join and be an active member of political clubs or parties.
- May hold office in political clubs or parties.
- May sign and circulate nominating petitions.
- May campaign for or against referendum questions, constitutional amendments, or municipal ordinances.
- May campaign for or against candidates in partisan elections.
- May make campaign speeches for candidates in partisan elections.
- May distribute campaign literature in partisan elections.
- May volunteer to work on a partisan political campaign.
- May express opinions about candidates and issues. If the expression is political activity, however—that is, activity directed at the success or failure of a political party, candidate for partisan political office, or partisan political group—then the expression is not permitted while the employee is on duty, in any federal room or building, while wearing a uniform or official insignia, or using any federally owned or leased vehicle.

Prohibited Political Activities

- May not use their official authority or influence to interfere with or affect the result of an election. For example:
 - May not use their official titles or positions while engaged in political activity.

⁷⁹ Office of Special Counsel, Hatch Act, available at https://osc.gov/pages/hatchact.aspx.

⁸⁰ Office of Special Counsel, *Federal Employees: Less Restricted Employees, available at* https://osc.gov/pages/ hatchact-affectsme.aspx#tab2.

- May not invite subordinate employees to political events or otherwise suggest to subordinates that they attend political events or undertake any partisan political activity.
- May not solicit, accept or receive a donation or contribution for a partisan political party, candidate for partisan political office, or partisan political group. For example:
 - May not host a political fundraiser.
 - May not collect contributions or sell tickets to political fundraising functions.⁸¹
- May not be candidates for public office in partisan political elections.
- May not knowingly solicit or discourage the participation in any political activity of anyone who has business pending before their employing office.
- May not engage in political activity—that is, activity directed at the success or failure of a political party, candidate for partisan political office, or partisan political group—while the employee is on duty, in any federal room or building, while wearing a uniform or official insignia, or using any federally owned or leased vehicle. For example:
 - May not distribute campaign materials or items.
 - May not display campaign materials or items.
 - May not perform campaign related chores.
 - May not wear or display partisan political buttons, T-shirts, signs, or other items.
 - May not make political contributions to a partisan political party, candidate for partisan political office, or partisan political group.
 - May not post a comment to a blog or a social media site that advocates for or against a partisan political party, candidate for partisan political office, or partisan political group.
 - May not use any e-mail account or social media to distribute, send, or forward content that advocates for or against a partisan political party, candidate for partisan political office, or partisan political group.

⁸¹ Soliciting, accepting, or receiving such donations or contributions may be done so long as the person being solicited is: 1) a member of the same federal labor organization as defined under section 7103(4) of this title or a federal employee organization which as of the date of enactment of the Hatch Act Reform Amendments of 1993 had a multicandidate political committee (as defined under section 315(a)(4) of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971 (2 U.S.C. 441a(a)(4))); 2) not a subordinate employee; and 3) the solicitation is for a contribution to the multicandidate political committee (as defined under section 315(a)(4) of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971 (2 U.S.C. 441a(a)(4))) of such federal labor organization as defined under section 7103(4) of this title or a federal employee organization which as of the date of the enactment of the Hatch Act Reform Amendments of 1993 had a multicandidate political committee (as defined under section 315(a)(4) of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971 (2 U.S.C. 441a(a)(4))) of such federal labor organization as defined under section 7103(4) of this title or a federal employee organization which as of the date of the enactment of the Hatch Act Reform Amendments of 1993 had a multicandidate political committee (as defined under section 315(a)(4) of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971 (2) U.S.C. 441a(a)(4))).

Further Restricted Employees⁸²

Permissible Political Activities

- May register and vote as they choose.
- May assist in nonpartisan voter registration drives.
- May participate in campaigns where none of the candidates represent a political party.
- May contribute money to political campaigns, political parties, or partisan political groups.
- May attend political fundraising functions.
- May attend political rallies and meetings.
- May join political clubs or parties.
- May sign nominating petitions.
- May campaign for or against referendum questions, constitutional amendments, or municipal ordinances.
- May be a candidate for public office in a nonpartisan election.
- May express opinions about candidates and issues. If the expression is political activity, however—that is, activity directed at the success or failure of a political party, candidate for partisan political office, or partisan political group—then the expression is not permitted while the employee is on duty, in any federal room or building, while wearing a uniform or official insignia, or using any federally owned or leased vehicle.

Prohibited Political Activities

- May not be a candidate for nomination or election to public office in a partisan election.
- May not take an active part in partisan political campaigns. For example:
 - May not campaign for or against a candidate or slate of candidates.
 - May not make campaign speeches or engage in other campaign activities to elect partisan candidates.
 - May not distribute campaign material in partisan elections.
 - May not circulate nominating petitions.
- May not take an active part in partisan political management. For example:
 - May not hold office in political clubs or parties.
 - May not organize or manage political rallies or meetings.
 - May not assist in partisan voter registration drives.
- May not use their official authority or influence to interfere with or affect the result of an election. For example:

⁸² Office of Special Counsel, *Federal Employees: Further Restricted Employees, available at* https://osc.gov/pages/ hatchact-affectsme.aspx#tab1.

- May not use their official titles or positions while engaged in political activity.
- May not invite subordinate employees to political events or otherwise suggest to subordinates that they attend political events or undertake any partisan political activity.
- May not solicit, accept or receive a donation or contribution for a partisan political party, candidate for partisan political office, or partisan political group. For example:
 - May not host a political fundraiser.
 - May not invite others to a political fundraiser.
 - May not collect contributions or sell tickets to political fundraising functions.
- May not engage in political activity—that is, activity directed at the success or failure of a political party, candidate for partisan political office, or partisan political group—while the employee is on duty, in any federal room or building, while wearing a uniform or official insignia, or using any federally owned or leased vehicle. For example:
 - May not wear or display partisan political buttons, T-shirts, signs, or other items.
 - May not make political contributions to a partisan political party, candidate for partisan political office, or partisan political group.
 - May not post a comment to a blog or a social media site that advocates for or against a partisan political party, candidate for partisan political office, or partisan political group.
 - May not use any e-mail account or social media to distribute, send or forward content that advocates for or against a partisan political party, candidate for partisan political office, or partisan political group.

Author Contact Information

Cynthia Brown Legislative Attorney cmbrown@crs.loc.gov, 7-9121 Jack Maskell Legislative Attorney jmaskell@crs.loc.gov, 7-6972